RECEIVED

02-20-2017

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2016AP2414 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

SHAWN W. FORGUE,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Circuit Court for Dane County, the Honorable Stephen Ehlke Presiding Circuit Court Case No: 2016CF29

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

JENNIFER A. LOHR State Bar No. 1085725

LOHR LAW OFFICE, LLC P.O. Box 5414 Madison, WI 53705 (608) 515-8106 jlohr@lohrlawoffice.com

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Was Mr. Forgue entitled to present certain evidence the victim's prior violence and turbulence in support of his self-defense claim under *State v. McMorris*?

Trial Court Answered: No.

II. Was Mr. Forgue entitled to present other acts evidence relating to her motive, intent, and plan to falsely accuse Forgue of domestic violence?

Trial Court Answered: No.

III. Was the trial court's restitution order supported by sufficient evidence?

Trial Court Answered: The court ordered restitution.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The issue in this case involves the application of wellsettled law to the facts of this case, therefore neither oral argument nor publication is requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Judgment of Conviction entered on July 7, 2016, in the Circuit Court for Dane County, the Honorable Stephen Ehlke presiding, wherein the Court entered judgments on a jury verdict finding Shawn Forgue guilty of one count of battery (domestic abuse) contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.19(1) and one count of disorderly conduct (domestic abuse) contrary to Wis. Stat. § 947.01(1). (46; App. 101-02.)

Before trial, Forgue moved the court to admit evidence of the alleged victim, T.S.'s, prior violent conduct towards Forgue to show the reasonableness of Forgue's actions in self-defense. (16.) Forgue also sought admission of evidence regarding other criminal acts of T.S. in order to show her motive, intent, and plan for falsely accusing Forgue of attacking her. (23.) After a hearing on the motions, the court excluded evidence of some of the acts of violence against Forgue, and all of the other acts evidence (63; App. 103-116.)

Forgue was also charged with strangulation and suffocation, false imprisonment, substantial battery, and pointing firearm at another, all as acts of domestic violence. (1.) At trial, the jury acquitted Forgue of each of these counts. (40, 41, 42, 43.)

The court withheld sentence on the two misdemeanor convictions, and ordered Forgue to two years of probation on each count, concurrent. (46; App. 101-02.)

A restitution hearing was held on October 28, 2016, at which Forgue challenged both the amount of restitution requested and his ability to pay. (70:3-4; App. 118-19.) On November 2, 2016, the court issued an order granting restitution in the amount of \$1269.50. (56, 58; App. 125, 126.)

Forgue filed a timely notice of appeal. (59.) This appeal addresses whether the circuit court erred by excluding *McMorris* evidence and other acts evidence, and whether the restitution order is supported by sufficient evidence.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case arises out of a physical altercation between Forgue and his then-girlfriend, T.S., in the early morning hours of March 27, 2015. T.S. sustained a broken nose and ruptured eardrum. (67:9-11.) The key issue at trial was who initiated the altercation. T.S. claimed that Forgue initially attacked her and she fled the house to KWIK Trip. Forgue claimed that T.S. initiated the attack by hitting, punching, and kicking him, and that he struck at T.S. to defend himself.

Pre-Trial Rulings

Forgue maintained that he acted in self-defense, and as part of this defense moved to introduce evidence of prior acts of T.S. that tended to establish her turbulent and violent character under State v. McMorris, 58 Wis. 2d 144, 205 N.W.2d 559 (1973). Specifically, Forgue sought to introduce testimony regarding four events: (1) T.S. rushed towards Forgue with the skateboard held over her head as if she was going to hit him then slammed the skateboard down on a wooden bannister, injuring herself (16:2); (2) T.S. became angry with Forgue while she was driving and he was a passenger. T.S. began driving erratically with "road rage," causing Forgue to fear for his safety in the car, (*id.* at 3); (3) During an argument while Forgue was driving, T.S. took off her shoe and struck Forgue in face with it three times, knocking out one of his teeth, (id. at 4); (4) During Forgue and T.S.'s relationship from early 2012 through March 2015 there were approximately five to ten additional incidents of domestic violence by T.S. against Forgue in which T.S. would become enraged and physically assault Forgue, usually by striking him in face or on side or back of head. (*Id.*)

Forgue also sought to admit other acts evidence of T.S.'s conduct in two areas. (23.) First, Forgue sought to

admit evidence of a prior domestic violence offense committed by T.S. against a previous boyfriend. (23:2-3.) Second, Forgue sought to introduce evidence that he had discovered that T.S., an employee of the United States Postal Service, had possession of other people's mail at his house, apparently without the consent of those people or USPS. (*Id.* at 4.) Forgue sought to offer this evidence to show T.S.'s motive, intent, and plan to falsely accuse D of domestic violence. (*Id.*)

The circuit court addressed Forgue's motions during a hearing on April 8, 2016. (63; App. 103-116.) Regarding Forgue's proposed *McMorris* evidence, the court ruled that it would allow testimony regarding the skateboard incident and the incident in which T.S. hit Forgue with a shoe while he was driving. (*Id.* at 15-16; App. 10304.) However, the court would not admit evidence regarding the incident in which T.S. was driving erratically, or testimony regarding T.S.'s pattern of domestic violence incidents against Forgue. (*Id.* at 15-17; App. 103-05.) The court denied Forgue's other acts motion entirely. (*Id.* at 24, 32; App. 109, 115.)

Evidence at Trial

At trial, T.S. testified that she and Forgue had been in a relationship for four years. (*Id.* at 84.) She had lived with Forgue at his parents' house for two years. (*Id.* at 88-89.) On the night of the incident, she and Forgue had spent the evening at a bar until around 1:45 a.m. (67:22.) T.S. admitted that she had a substantial amount to drink that night. (66:91.) During the drive home, Forgue became upset with T.S. for her behavior at the bar, called her names and told her he wanted her to leave. (*Id.* at 92-93.)

T.S. testified that when they arrived home, she walked to KWIK Trip to purchase cigarettes. (67:26.) After she

returned home, she went into the basement to smoke. (66:95-96.) When she tried to leave the basement, she found that the basement door was locked. (*Id.* at 97.) She used a mop handle to pry the door open and break the lock, a hook on the other side of the door. (*Id.* at 98.)

T.S. testified that when she came out of the basement, Forgue lunged toward her and grabbed her. (*Id.* at 101.) He took T.S. into the bedroom and pinned her down on the bed. (*Id.* at 101-02.) Forgue then struck T.S. in the face multiple times with his fist. (*Id.* at 103). Forgue hit her nose, then when T.S. turned her face to the side, he hit her left ear. (*Id.* at 104-05.)

T.S. testified that Forgue then got off of her and she rolled off the bed onto the floor. (*Id.* at 105.) She heard the sound of a gun being cocked, and looked up to see Forgue pointing a gun at her. (*Id.* at 105-07.) T.S. testified that Forgue threatened her while pointing the gun at her, but she was somehow able to freely leave the bedroom and go into the living room. (*Id.* at 107, 111-12.)

In the living room, T.S. attempted to message several friends to pick her up. (*Id.* at 116-118.) The message, sent at 2:17 a.m. read, "Hey, can someone pick me up, Kwik Trip in Marshall? I know it's late but not really my fault." (*Id.* at 118; 67:39-41.) T.S. testified that Forgue then entered the living room and took her phone from her, threatening that if she came in the bedroom he would shoot her. (66:118.)

T.S. denied that Forgue told her to leave the house and that she threatened to report domestic violence against Forge and to kill Forgue in his sleep at that time. (67:44, 46.) Forgue returned to the bedroom, and T.S. left the house through the front door. (66:118-19.)

T.S. testified that she walked towards KWIK Trip to get help. (*Id.* at 119.) Forgue followed in his car, and came upon her in the parking lot of the old KWIK Trip location, which was abandoned and dark. (*Id.*) T.S. testified that she got into Forgue's car because she did not know whether he had a gun with him. (*Id.* at 122.)

T.S. testified that Forgue drove her home, where he got out of the car then reached into the passenger side and strangled T.S., then pulled her by her hair out of the vehicle. (67:6-7.) T.S. then fled while screaming for help. (*Id.* at 8.) T.S. hid near another house nearby, then ran to KWIK Trip and asked an employee to call 911. (*Id.* at 11-13.)

Eric Everson testified that he was working at KWIK Trip on March 27, 2015, when T.S. walked into the store around 4:00 a.m. (66:48-49, 76.) T.S. approached Everson and asked him to call 911 because someone had beaten her up. (*Id.* at 48-49.)

Marshall Police Officer Joseph Nickel testified that on March 27, 2015, he was dispatched to KWIK Trip to assist EMS and arrived around 4:00 a.m. (*Id.* at 80.) When he arrived, he observed T.S. crouching towards the end of the counter, crying, with bleeding and swelling on her face. (*Id.* at 80-81.) T.S. reported that Forgue assaulted her. (*Id.* at 81.)

After police arrived, T.S. was transported to the hospital where she was told that she sustained a broken nose and a ruptured eardrum. (*Id.* at 15.) Doctor Matthew Lochen was working as an emergency room physician during the early morning hours of March 27, 2015, and treated T.S. (68:5.) Ultimately, T.S. was diagnosed with a ruptured eardrum and a "nondisplaced nasal bone fracture," meaning the bone was cracked but still well-aligned. (*Id.* at 9-11.)

Nickel also went to the hospital to take a statement from T.S. and photograph her injuries. (67:83, 87-88.)

T.S. denied ever having been violent towards Forgue in the past. (*Id.* at 53.) Specifically, she denied hitting Forgue in the face with a shoe and stated she did not know that she knocked out one of his teeth. (*Id.* at 53-54.) She also denied trying to hit Forgue with a skateboard while intoxicated. (*Id.* at 54.)

Lieutenant John Nault testified that he arrested Forgue at his residence at 3:25 p.m. (68:19.) Nault had the opportunity to see Forgue's hands when he came out of the house, and did not recall seeing any injuries on his hands. (*Id.* at 20.) Forgue contacted the Marshall Police Department to request photos taken of his hands and scratches on his body, which was done on March 30, 2015. (67:100-02.)

Forgue testified that at the time of the incident, he was unemployed and received disability due to his inability to make fists or apply a tight grasp with either of his hands. (68:30-31.) This testimony was corroborated by expert witness Dr. Elizabeth Poi. (Id. at 110-20.) Poi had been Forgue's primary care physician since 2008, and diagnosed Forgue with a condition called Diabetic Hand Syndrome (Diabetic Cheiroarthropathy). (Id. at 112.) Symptoms of this condition are a loss of range of motion, initial puffiness and joint swelling, and an eventual inability to fully extend or flex the hands. (Id. at 112-13.) Forgue had been seeking treatment for the condition since 2008 when it caused him to leave a job due to his loss of hand function. (Id. at 113.) Despite seeing specialists and having surgery on his hands, Forgue's hands were not restored to a full normal range of motion. (Id. at 116.) It was Dr. Poi's expert opinion that Forgue did not have the ability to fully flex or to make a fist (*Id.*)

Forgue testified that, over the years of knowing and living with T.S., he formed the opinion that she is an extremely violent person, based on incidents in which T.S. was violent or aggressive towards him. (Id. at 35.) In 2012, T.S. had been out late and came home drunk and belligerent. (Id. at 35.) When Forgue tried to express his concern about her drinking, T.S. became defensive. (Id. at 36.) T.S. grabbed a skateboard and came at Forgue with it in a lunging motion. (Id.) T.S. turned away from Forgue and hit the skateboard on a bannister with enough force that it sprung back and smacked her in the head, cutting her above her eyebrow. (Id. at 36-37.) While T.S. was coming at him with the skateboard, Forgue feared he would be hit and crouched with his hands up to protect himself. (Id. at 88.) At the time, Forgue believed he was going to be injured and was afraid he could be killed. (Id. at 89.)

In 2013, T.S. called him late at night asking him to give her a ride home, as she was drunk. (*Id.* at 37.) During the ride home, Forgue expressed concern regarding her extreme drunkenness. (*Id.*) She became angry with Forgue and the way he was driving. (*Id.*) T.S. took off her shoe and hit him in the face with it three times, causing one of Forgue's teeth to fall out. (*Id.* at 38.) This incident was corroborated by Forgue's friend, Jeff Ossola. (*Id.* at 90-92.) Ossola recalled a camping trip with Forgue and T.S. in the late summer of 2013, during which he noticed that Forgue was missing a tooth. (*Id.* at 91.) Ossola asked T.S. about Forgue's tooth and she told him that she had struck Forgue with a shoe causing his tooth to fall out, while Forgue was driving. (*Id.*) Ossola described T.S.'s attitude while telling the story as unapologetic and dismissive. (*Id.* at 92.)

Forgue testified that on the night in question, he had been drinking but was not intoxicated when he left the bar. (*Id.* at 39.) Based on his past experiences with T.S., Forgue believed that she was very drunk. (*Id.*) When they arrived home, T.S. became angry that Forgue would not drive to buy cigarettes. (*Id.* at 40.) She slammed the door and took a walk, while Forgue went into the house. (*Id.*)

Forgue testified that he went immediately to bed, and was there when T.S. returned. (*Id.* at 41.) T.S. then came directly into the bedroom and sat on the bed. (*Id.*) She was still upset about having to walk to the store, and was in an angry state. (*Id.*) Forgue questioned T.S.'s drinking and told her she needed to calm down. (*Id.* at 41-42.)

T.S. hit Forgue in the back of the head with her hand hard enough that he felt pain. (*Id.* at 42.) Forgue attempted to get off the bed to get away from T.S.; T.S. grabbed him from behind and restrained him forcefully with her arms across his chest. (*Id.* at 42-43.) Forgue pleaded with T.S. to let him go and attempted to push back on her hip with his hand, but she would not let go. (*Id.* at 43.)

Forgue was concerned based on previous behavior of T.S. in similar circumstances and was having problems breathing. (*Id.*) He jerked his arm back quickly and his elbow hit T.S. in the nose. (*Id.* at 43-44.) Forgue's intent in doing so was to get T.S. off of him and to get away for his own safety. (*Id.* at 43-44.)

T.S. let him go, and Forgue got off the bed and tried to get away from T.S., still concerned for his safety. (*Id.* at 44.) T.S. then became extremely violent and came off the opposite side of the bed, coming around the bed swinging and kicking and attacked Forgue at the foot of the bed. (*Id.* at 45-47.) Forgue was in a gap between the bed and the wall; the door was not accessible to him. (*Id.* at 48.) T.S. swung at and hit Forgue with her fists. (*Id.*) As T.S. punched towards Forgue's

face, he jerked his arm up quickly to block it, and his palm made contact with T.S.'s left ear. (*Id.* at 48.)

T.S. stopped attacking Forgue. (*Id.* at 49.) Forgue told T.S. to leave, and she left the bedroom for the living room. (*Id.*) After some time had passed, Forgue went into the living room and saw that T.S. had unfolded a futon and made a bed there. (*Id.* at 50.) Forgue again asked T.S. to leave the house, telling her that he did not feel safe with her there. (*Id.* at 52.)

Forgue testified that T.S. responded very angrily to his request that she leave, telling him that if he made her leave she would falsely accuse him of domestic violence. (*Id.*) T.S. also threatened Forgue that she would shoot him in his sleep. (*Id.* at 53.) Forgue was able to record T.S. repeating her threat to kill him, which was played for the jury. (*Id.* at 53-56.) After this, T.S. did leave the residence by walking out the front door while Forgue was still in the living room. (*Id.* at 57-58.)

In rebuttal testimony, T.S. denied that the recording containing her threat to kill Forgue in his sleep had been made on the night of the incident, claiming it was recorded during an argument between the two in January 2014. (*Id.* at 128-29.) She also denied ever throwing a skateboard in Forgue's direction. (*Id.* at 131.) Instead, T.S. claimed purposefully tried to break the skateboard out of her frustration that Forgue had broken some of her things. (*Id.* at 130.) Regarding the incident in which Forgue's tooth fell out, T.S. testified that she was upset with the way Forgue was driving and smacked him over the head with her flip flop. (*Id.* at 131.) This action caused Forgue's tooth to fly out the window of the car. (*Id.* at 132.)

The jury acquitted Forgue of the counts of strangulation and suffocation, false imprisonment, substantial

battery, and intentionally pointing a firearm at T.S. (*Id.* at 256-57; 40; 41; 42; 43.) The jury found Forgue guilty of misdemeanor battery and disorderly conduct. (68:257; 44; 45.)

On July 7, 2016, the court withheld sentence and ordered Forgue to complete two years of probation. (46; App. 101-02.)

Restitution

On August 12, 2016, the state submitted a proposed restitution order requesting \$6,243.99 in restitution to T.S. and the Department of Justice Crime Victim Compensation. (51.) Forgue requested a hearing on restitution. (52:2.)

A hearing was held on October 28, 2016, at which Forgue contested both the amount of restitution requested and his ability to pay restitution. (70:2-4; App. 117-19.) Regarding the amount of restitution requested, Forgue argued that a causal nexus had not been shown, and that some of the costs itemized in the state's request had not been incurred by T.S. (*Id.* at 3-4; App. 118-19.) Additionally, Forgue presented evidence of his limited income due to his inability to work due to disability. (*Id.* at 4; App. 119.) The state did not contest the evidence of Forgue's inability to pay. (*Id.* at 5; App. 120.) T.S. did not testify and the state did not present any evidence regarding the itemized expenses or how they were caused by Forgue's actions.¹ (*Id.* at 2-9; App. 117-124.)

¹ During the hearing, the State referenced that it "ha[d] submitted documentation that I think meets our burden for the Crime Victim Compensation Request." (70:2; App. 117.) However, this documentation was not made part of the record, nor is there any indication that the court relied on any such documentation in making its restitution determination. (*See* 56; App. 125.)

The court issued a written decision on November 2, 2016, granting restitution in the amount of \$1269.50. (56; App. 125.) The court's order incorrectly stated that Forgue did not dispute the amount of restitution sought, only his inability to pay due to his chronic medical disability. (*Id.*) The court lowered the total amount of restitution based on Forgue's reduced ability to pay. (*Id.*) Finding Forgue had the ability to pay restitution in the amount of \$25 per month, the court restitution to T.S. in the amount of \$269.50 and to Crime Victim Compensation in the amount of \$1000. (*Id.*; 58; App. 126.)

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY NOT ALLOWING FORGUE TO PRESENT CERTAIN *MCMORRIS* EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF HIS SELF-DEFENSE CLAIM

Forgue sought to enter evidence of a series of incidents during his relationship with T.S. during which she acted violently and turbulently towards him, causing him to fear for his safety. This evidence was key to showing the jury that his fear on the night in question was reasonable and his actions in defending himself from T.S.'s attack were legally justified. The court allowed two incidents to be prevented to the jury, but excluded others, thus preventing Forgue from fully presenting his defense to the jury.

A. Legal Principles and Standard of Review

Where there is a sufficient factual basis for a claim of self-defense, a defendant may, in support of the defense, establish what he believed to be the victim's violent character by presenting evidence of the victim's specific prior violent acts known to him at the time of the crime. *McMorris v.*

State, 58 Wis. 2d 144, 151, 205 N.W.2d 559 (1973). The defendant's knowledge of the victim's turbulent or dangerous character is relevant to determining whether the victim was an aggressor and whether the defendant's apprehension of danger and resulting reaction were reasonable. *Id.* at 149.

The evidence should be probative of the defendant's beliefs in relation to his defense. *State v. Head*, 2002 WI 99, ¶ 129, 255 Wis.2d 194, 648 N.W.2d 413. "If the court determines that the evidence is relevant, the court should admit it as it would any other relevant evidence, excluding it only if its 'probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence." *Id.* (quoting Wis. Stat. § 904.03).

The right to present *McMorris* evidence is a constitutional right, and excluding testimony regarding defendant's of knowledge of a victim's prior violent conduct was not only an abuse of discretion but was also error of a constitutional dimension. *State v. Boykins*, 119 Wis. 2d 272, 350 N.W.2d 719 (Ct. App 1984) (citing to Amendments w and XIV of the U.S. Constitution and Article 1, Section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution).

The admission of *McMorris* evidence implicates the exercise of discretion by the circuit court. *State v. Head*, 2002 WI 99, ¶ 129, 255 Wis.2d 194, 648 N.W.2d 413. On review, this court looks to whether the circuit court properly exercised its discretion in accordance with the facts and accepted legal standards. *Id.* at ¶ 43. The issue of whether exclusion of evidence implicates a defendant's constitutional guarantee of a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense is

reviewed de novo. *State v. Shomberg*, 2006 WI 9, ¶26, 288 Wis. 2d 1, 709 N.W.2d 370.

B. Evidence of T.S.'s Turbulent Behavior Towards Forgue Should Have Been Admitted Because it Was Probative of Forgue's Beliefs in Relation to His Claim of Self-Defense.

In a criminal case where the defendant has raised the issue of self-defense, the defendant's state of mind, including the reasonableness of his decision to use force to defend himself, is an issue for the jury. *See* Wis. Stat. § 939.48. For this reason, Forgue sought to present testimony regarding prior acts of T.S. to establish her "turbulent and violent character" known to him at the time of the incident. *McMorris*, 58 Wis. 2d at 152.

The circuit court denied Forgue the opportunity to present evidence regarding an incident in which T.S. became angry with Forgue and began driving erratically with "road rage," while he was a passenger, causing Forgue to fear for his safety in the car. (63:15; App. 103). This incident ultimately resulted in T.S. letting Forgue out of the car to leave him roadside before peeling out as she made a rude gesture towards Forgue. (16:3.) In denying Forgue's motion, the court stated:

[The incident] will not be allowed for the reason that she herself was in the car. She's putting both of them in jeopardy. It's maybe unwise conduct. *It may be turbulent.* I can understand why it would be described that way. But I don't think it really goes in my opinion to the reasonableness of whether someone would then need to strike someone. I mean, somebody in the car isn't thinking, "Oh, my God, she's driving crazily, I better hit her." You know, that doesn't seem to be a logical result of that.

(63:15-16; App. 103-04) (emphasis added).²

The court misapplied *McMorris* by holding that, despite being evidence of T.S.'s turbulent actions, her resorting to road rage while arguing with Forgue as her passenger is not the sort of conduct that would cause one to fear for their safety. The court based its decision on the fact that T.S. was also putting herself in danger, and that it would not be reasonable for Forgue to hit T.S. in self-defense *during the road rage incident*. (63:15-16; App. 103-04.)

Forgue's defense was that at the time of the incident on March 27, 2015, his fear of T.S. was reasonable and his actions in self-defense were justified. In order to prove this to the jury, his defense relied on evidence of T.S.'s past instances of violence and aggression towards him. The question is not whether he may have been justified in acting in self-defense during the past incident, but whether his knowledge of that incident created a reasonable fear in his mind when he did act in self-defense. As explained by the court in *McMorris*,

The past conduct of a person markedly affects what others may reasonably expect from him in the future.

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