### **RECEIVED**

**OF WISCONSIN** 

## STATE OF WISCONSIN 03-22-2017 COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV CLERK OF COURT

### CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal No. 2016AP002414-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

SHAWN W FORGUE,

Defendant-Appellant.

#### PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF DANE COUNTY, BRANCH 15, THE HONORABLE STEPHEN E. EHLKE, PRESIDING

Valerian A. Powell Assistant District Attorney Dane County, Wisconsin Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent State Bar No. 1059003

Dane County Courthouse, Room 3000 215 South Hamilton Street Madison, WI 53703 Telephone: (608)266-4211

###

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The defendant's statement of facts is comprehensive and accurate. The state will refer to several additional facts in the argument portion of this brief, with citations to the record.

#### ARGUMENT

### I. THE TRIAL COURT APPROPRIATELY EXCLUDED CERTAIN MCMORRIS EVIDENCE.

#### A. Legal principles and standard of review

The rules applicable to the admission of evidence of the victim's "character for violence" are set forth in <a href="McMorris v. State">McMorris v. State</a>, 58 Wis.2d 144 (1973), <a href="Werner v. State">Werner v. State</a>, 66 Wis.2d 736 (1975), and their progeny.

In <u>McMorris</u>, the Wisconsin Supreme Court addressed the admissibility of evidence of prior specific acts of violent behavior of the victim when self-defense is at issue. Id at 144. The court held:

When the issue of self-defense is raised in a prosecution for assault or homicide and there is a factual basis to support such defense, the defendant may, in support of the defense, establish what the defendant believed to be the turbulent and violent character of the victim by proving prior specific instances of violence within his knowledge at the time of the incident.

#### Id. at 152.

Such evidence may enlighten the jury regarding the defendant's state of mind at the time of the incident and assists the jury in deciding whether the defendant acted

as a reasonably prudent person would under similar beliefs and circumstances. See State v. Daniels, 160 Wis.2d 85, 94 (1991), citing McMorris, 58 Wis.2d at 151.

In <u>Werner</u>, the Wisconsin Supreme Court clarified that under <u>McMorris</u>, a defendant who claims self-defense may testify about prior specific acts of violence by the victim only when this specific conduct was "within his knowledge to show his state of mind" at the time of the alleged offense. <u>Werner</u>, 66 Wis.2d 736, 744. Thus, "[e]vidence of prior specific conduct may not be used to prove that the victim acted in conformity with that conduct." *Id*. In other words:

The purpose in allowing such testimony is not to support an inference about the actual conduct victim's during incident; rather, the testimony relates to the defendant's state of mind, showing what his beliefs were concerning the victim's character. Such evidence helps the jury determine whether the defendant 'acted as a reasonably prudent person would under similar beliefs and circumstances' in the exercise of a privilege of self defense.

Id. at 743 (footnote omitted).

In <u>McAllister v. State</u>, 74 Wis.2d 246 (1976), the Wisconsin Supreme Court further explained Werner and

McMorris. The Court held that although a defendant claiming self-defense may testify about specific instances of violence by the victim, testimony by other witnesses is inadmissible to prove that the victim acted in conformity with that conduct, but a defendant may "produce supporting evidence to prove the reality of the particular acts of which he claims knowledge, thereby proving reasonableness of his knowledge and apprehension and the credibility of his assertion." McAllister, 74 Wis.2d at 250-51.

The admissibility of evidence proffered to show the reasonableness of the self-defense claim is within the court's discretion. State v. Head, 2002 WI 99, 255 Wis.2d 194 (2002). As with any "other acts evidence," the evidence is subject to the application of the balancing test involving the weighing of probative value against the danger of unfair prejudice, and considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence. Wis. Stat. § 904.03. Assuming its probative value outweighs such considerations, courts have in previous cases established the defendant's right to put on such evidence once a factual basis has been set

forth for a self-defense claim, and also established the court's responsibility to vet the evidence prior to its admission. See, e.g., McAllister, 74 Wis.2d 246.

When corroborating evidence of the victim's prior specific violent acts is cumulative, courts have excluded it on grounds that it surpassed the legitimate purpose of establishing what the defendant believed to be the victim's character, and instead demonstrated the victim's violent propensity. See <u>Id</u>. at 251; <u>Daniels</u>, 160 Wis.2d at 106-07.

# B. Testimony regarding the victim's alleged "road rage" incident and the victim's "five to ten additional incidents of domestic violence was properly excluded.

The circuit court considered the arguments of the parties at a motion hearing on April 8, 2016 and declined to let the jury hear about the "road rage" incident. The court noted that the victim's behavior in that incident "may be unwise conduct. It may be turbulent... [b]ut I don't think it really goes in my opinion to the reasonableness of whether someone would then need to strike someone." (63:15, 16; A-Ap. 103-104). The court further explained its reasoning: "I mean, somebody in the

car isn't thinking, "Oh, my God, she's driving crazily, I better hit her." You know, that doesn't seem to be a logical result of that." (63:16; A-Ap. 104). The court's observation that the victim's conduct was not violent behavior specifically directed at the defendant takes this evidence outside the purview of McMorris, and the exclusion of the evidence therefore reflected a proper exercise of discretion.

The circuit court also excluded evidence of "5 to 10 additional incidents of domestic violence." The court found that "[i]t's just not specific enough. It's this general statement that, you know, she has engaged in conduct numerous times without any specific detail or facts. I think that is not specific enough, and it I think could lead to some more confusion about the exact role that <a href="McMorris">McMorris</a> evidence plays in the jury's deliberations." (63:16, 17; A-Ap. 104-105). As this evidence was vague and tended to bleed into propensity rather than specifically bolster the defendant's self-defense claim, it was also properly excluded.

It is important to note that the court did permit the defendant to develop two prior specific incidents of

evidence at trial. The court allowed the McMorris defendant to testify about an incident where the victim was intoxicated and went at him "with a lunging motion" and then injured herself when she struck a stairway banister with a skateboard. (68:36). The court also permitted the defendant to testify about a second incident where the victim took off her shoe and hit him in the face with it three times, causing him to lose a tooth. (68:38). The court further allowed an acquaintance of the victim to testify that the victim admitted she struck the defendant with her shoe and thereby knocked his tooth out. (68:91). Thus, the defendant was able to fully develop a base of support for his self-defense claim.

### II. THE TRIAL COURT APPROPRIATELY EXCLUDED THE DEFENDANT'S PROFFERED OTHER ACTS

#### A. Legal Principles and Standard of Review

Other acts evidence is not admissible to prove the character of the person, but it may be admissible when offered for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identify, or absence of mistake or accident. Wis. Stat. § 904.04(2). The well-established rule of admissibility in

Wisconsin consists of a three-step test: (1) Is the evidence offered for an acceptable purpose? (2) Is the evidence relevant? (3) Is the probative value of the evidence substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues for misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time or needless presentation of cumulative evidence? State v. Sullivan, 216 Wis. 2d 768, 772, 576 N.W.2d 30 (1998).

### B. Both of the defendant's proffered other acts were irrelevant and invited confusion of the issues

As with the <u>McMorris</u> evidence, the court also heard arguments and denied the defendants other acts motion at a hearing on April 8, 2016. The first other act related to conduct between the victim and different man in 2008, in which she was filed with the boyfriend and was arrested after saying, "Well, if I have to go to jail, at least it was worth it." The circuit court stated, "I'm not gonna allow [the evidence] for the reasons I've just indicated. I just believe it really is more propensity. It would be too likely to confuse the issues here, I think." (63:24; A-Ap. 109). The defendant argued that this incident shows the victim was especially disposed to violence and she would know to fabricate a story to avoid

being arrested again, but the court pointed out that the victim could be effectively cross-examined about these attitudes without delving into the 2008 incident. (63:22, 24; A-Ap. 107, 109). For these reasons, the court properly exercised its discretion in disallowing evidence of a 2008 incident involving a different boyfriend.

The defendant also sought to introduce evidence that the victim, who was a postal carrier at the time, had other people's mail at the residence at the time of the The defendant's narrative incident. and theory admissibility is rather convoluted: the two of them had argument that led to the victim attacking defendant; the defendant physically reacted in selfdefense; the defendant told the victim to leave but she refused; the victim threatened that if the defendant kicked her out, she would report him for domestic violence; the defendant in turn threatened that if she reported him, he would report her for stealing people's mail; and so the defendant's belief that the victim stole other people's mail was relevant to reveal the victim's improper motive to falsely accuse him of domestic abuse. (63:27-29; A-Ap. 112). The court responded that by the time the narrative gets to the point of the defendant threatening to report the stolen mail, "the cows are already out of the barn, so to speak, in terms of her motivation about making something up." (63:32; A-Ap. 115.) That is, the defendant was permitted to plant the seed of improper motive by testifying that he threatened to kick the victim out of the house for her behavior. As the court observed, any mention of the mail "just goes down into an argument that's more confusing than helpful." (63:33, A-Ap. 116).

Finally, even if the court's exclusion of the McMorris evidence and other acts evidence was erroneous, the error was harmless. The defendant testified about the incident with the skateboard as well as the incident where the victim knocked his tooth out with her shoe, all in support of the reasonableness of self-defense. Further, the defendant testified that the victim was "extremely violent" during their relationship. (68:91). The defendant even implied that he had to buy a gun to protect himself from the victim:

Q Okay. And did you use the firearm frequently when you had it?
A No.

Q What were your plans for that firearm? A It was for home safety, um, because [the victim] on many occasions, well, throughout our relationship - (68:87).

The state then objected, but the testimony to that point was not struck. Thus, the defendant was permitted to fully develop what he claimed to be the basis for his fear or the victim. The effectiveness of the evidence is reflected in the verdicts; notwithstanding the victim's broken nose and ruptured ear drum, the defendant was acquitted on all of the felony charges.

### III. THE STATE CONCEDES THE RECORD IS INSUFFICENT AS TO THE AMOUNT OF RESTITUTION.

The defendant correctly notes that this prosecutor failed to file supporting documentation regarding the amount of restitution in the case. The state agrees with the defendant that the case should be remanded to the circuit court for a further restitution hearing, where the court can take evidence regarding the basis for restitution. Once the court receives an itemized basis for the restitution, the court will also be in a position to determine whether there is a causal nexus between the defendant's crimes and the items of restitution requested by the victim and the Crime Victim Compensation fund.

#### CONCLUSION

This court should affirm the circuit court's decision to exclude evidence of the <u>McMorris</u> and other acts evidence, and deny the defendant's request for a new trial. This court should remand the case to the circuit court for a new restitution hearing.